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QUESTION PRESENTED

The gtatute in question, 8 922(g)(1) of Title 18, United
States Code, makes it unlawful:

(9) .. .for any person
(1) who has been convicted in any court of a

crime punishable by imprisonment for aterm exceeding one
yedr: . ..
to possessin or affecting commerce, any firearm.

In the ingtant matter, Petitioner’ s only conviction occurred
in Okinawa, Japan, and it was this Japanese conviction that served
as the predicate feony in this 8 922(g)(1) prosecution. The
Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss the indictment arguing thet
foreign felonies were not intended to count, as the term “in any
court” means any court in the United States.  The motion was
denied by thetrid court and the Court of Appeds affirmed.

The question presented, therefore, is whether the term
“convicted in any court” contained in 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1)
includes convictions entered in foreign courts.



i
PARTIESTO PROCEEDING

All parties to the proceeding are identified in the caption.
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OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion in petitioner’s direct gpped to the United
States Court of Appedls for the Third Circuit, United States v.
Small, 333 F.3d 425 (3d Cir. 2003), is printed in the appendix to
the petition for writ of certiorari (“Pet. App.”) a 1la. The order
denying the petition for rehearing is at Pet. App. 41a. Thedidrict
court’s opinion denying Petitioner’s motion to dismiss, United
Satesv. Small, 183 F.Supp 2d 755 (W.D. Pa. 2002), is at Pet.
App. 8a

JURISDICTION

On June 23, 2003, the Court of Appeds affirmed the
conviction. On July 23, 2003, the Court of Appedls denied the
petition for rehearing. The petition for writ of certiorari wastimdy
filed on November 17, 2003, following an extenson of time granted
by Jugtice Souter on October 15, 2003, and was granted by this
Court on March 29, 2004. This Court has jurisdiction under 28
U.S.C. § 1254(1).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION AND STATUTES

Provisons of thefollowing arein Pet. App., 43a 18U.S.C.
§922(g)(1) and 18 U.S.C. § 921(8)(20).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
() Proceedingsin the Courts Below

On August 30, 2000, the Petitioner, Gary Sherwood Small,
was indicted in the U.S. Didtrict Court for the Western Didtrict of
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Pennsylvaniafor violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) (ex-felon not
to possess firearms) and § 922(g)(6) (false satements to firearms
dealer). (47a).

On December 4, 2000, Mr. Smdl filed amotion to dismiss
the indictment on the basis that (1) foreign convictions do not
qudify as predicate prior convictions under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g);
and, (2) dternatively, even if thereis no flat prohibition againg the
use of foreign convictions, this particular conviction was not
aufficiently fundamentdly fair to be counted. (52a).

The United States filed an opposition to the motion to
dismiss (97d). It dso filed the record of the Japanese trial.
(391a-7133, 187a). Small duly responded. (203a).

On January 16, 2002, the trid court entered a
memorandum order denying Small’s motion to dismiss without a
hearing. (133, Pet. App. a 83). On January 31, 2002, Smal filed
amotion to reconsder that order and filed exhibits. (246a). This
motion was denied by the court on February 1, 2002. (464).

On March 14, 2002, Small entered a conditiond plea of
guilty to Count 2 of theindictment, aleging aviolation of 18 U.S.C.
§922(g)(1). (714a). On June 19, 2002, thetrid court sentenced
him to eight months imprisonment and three years supervised
release. Counts 1, 3 and 4 were dismissed on the motion of the
United States. (719a).

On June 25, 2002, Smdl filed atimely notice of apped.
The Court of Appeds affirmed on June 23, 2003. (Pet. App. a
1a.) The petition for renearing and suggestion for rehearing en banc
was denied on July 32, 2003. (Pet. App. a 414).

1 This and all of the following record references refer to the
Appendixto Appellant’ sBrief that wasfiledintheU.S. Court of Appealsfor
the Third Circuit. The partiesin this case have agreed to dispensewith the
joint appendix and proceed on the original record.
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(i) Statement of Facts

On June 2, 1998, the Petitioner, Gary Sherwood Small,
purchased a handgun from the Delmont Sport Shop, a firearms
dedler in the community where heresded. (47a8). Mr. Smdll filled
out the ATF form with hisactua name and address, and answered
“no” to the question had he ever been convicted of a crime
punishable by aterm exceeding one year in prison. (47a).2

While Mr. Smdl had never been convicted of any crimein
the United States, in 1994, in Okinawa, Japan, he was convicted
of an offense which carries a pendty of more than one year in

rison.

P Specificaly, Smdl was charged in Japan with violaing the
Gunsand Knives Control Law and the Explosives Control Law.
(2618). Apparently a hot water heater was shipped from the
United Statesto Okinawa, Japan, by air freight. Small appearedto
pick up the package at the Naha Airport and when he did so, he
was arrested. The hot water heater, which Mr. Small never took
possessionof or opened, alegedly contained severd pistals, arifle,
and ammunition. (277a-3624).

Mr. Smdl madedlegationsin his pleadingsbeforethe U.S.
didtrict court about grave deficienciesin the Japanese proceedings,
some of which appear in the record of the Japanesetrial and some
of which do not.?

2Although the indictment charged in Count |, making a false
statement to afederally licensed firearms dealer, this count was ultimately
withdrawn. (7194).

% Although the question of whether the Japanese conviction was
sufficiently fundamentally fair to be counted is not specifically raised asa
questioninthisbrief, adiscussion of Mr. Smalls’ experienceinthe Japanese
Criminal Justice System is relevant in considering why Congress would
intend to include only American convictions within the reach of §
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In regard to the matters that appear in the record, the
following isreveded:

a. Peitioner Smdl had noright to nor did hereceiveajury
trid. (Passm);

b. The testimony of three crucia witnesseswas presented
in the form of sworn written statements of each witness with no
cross-examination, no defense attorney or defendant present, and
the witness not being present in court. See Exhibit 13, Deposition
of Peter Cappuccio (503a-514a); Exhibit 14, Deposition of Susan
Jyozaki Summerfidd (517a-5344); and Exhibit 15, Deposition of
Toshimi Ohashi (536a-551a8). Smal had no right or opportunity to
confront or cross-examine these prosecution witnesses.

The affidavits were filed to prove that Mr. Small shipped a
hot weter heater from Pittsburgh (found to contain firearms in
Japan). But one witness stated in her affidavit that, when she was
shown a photo of Mr. Small, she was not sure if it was him.
(Exhibit 15, 545a). Two witnesses admitted that, after the water
hester was dropped off for shipment, other persons could have had
access to it, and could have placed firearms in it, during the 2-3
days before it was shipped. (Exhibit 14, 531a; Exhibit 15, 546a).

c. Thetria appears to have begun on March 15, 1993.
There were three Judges hearing the case, Chief Judge Kyoichi
Miyogi, Judge Yashiro Akiba and Judge Kenji Tanaka. (See
Exhibit 16, 5544). There was a second day of tria on April 26,
1993, six weeks later. (See Exhibit 17, 5624). The third day of
trial was June 8, 1993. (See Exhibit 18, 580a). On this date, for
no apparent reason, Judge Kenji Tanaka no longer was part of the
three Judge court, and was replaced by Judge Takeshi Ebara
There is no indication of whether the new judge learned anything a

922(g)(1)’s prohibition. Despite the fact that the Japanese Constitution,
made a part of the record below, reads in many respects like that of the
United States, it is apparently ignored.
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al about the earlier proceedings. Nothing of record indicates
whether he was shown atranscript, or if one actudly existed.

d. On April 26, 1993, Gay Smal was cdled to the
witness stand by the prosecutor, was shown 62 separate items
(including handguns, rifles, scopes and bullets), and was asked in
each case, “Do you recognize this?” (See Exhibit 17, 568a-5764a)
Small refused to answer each of the questions, but the prosecutor,
undaunted, continued on 62times. 1d. If tried inthe United States,
this would have been ablatant violation of Mr. Small’ sfundamental
right to not to be compelled to tedtify againgt himsdlf.

References were repeatedly made by witnessesto Smdl’s
silence during thetrid. (See Exhibit 18, 587a, Q 45). And again,
for a second time during the trid, Small was cdled to the stand by
the prosecutor, and was apparently shown various customs and
shipping formsthat he allegedly wrote, and was asked repeatedly
if herecognized theforms. (See Exhibit 20, 639a) Ineachinstance
he refused to answer the question. (639a).

During the closing argument, the prosecutor stated as
follows

The Defendant shows absolutely no remorse in regard to
thiscrime.

At the early dages of the invedtigation, the
Defendant carried out a hunger strike to “protest his
gpprehension,” and following that, his attitude has shifted
from being completdly dSlent, refusng to provide
satements, to denying the charges. Inthe Public Hearings,
the Defendant has consgtently taken the attitude of
remaining sllent or Sating that he “ does not wish to answer
the question.”

Certainly, one can say that such an attitude is
unavoidable since the Defendant denies the charges, but
one can sense an insolent attitude in the Defendant, and
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generdly spesking, the Defendant seemsto have absolutely
no comprehension of hisrespongbility for perpetrating this
crime. (Exhibit 24, 709a-7104)

e. Theentire trid transcript contains repeated and very
prejudicid rank hearsay. The record reveds that not only is the
defendant given no right of confrontation, but that virtualy nothing
offered by the prosecution is subject to objection. An example
appearsin the testimony of Kityomitsu Nakama, who operated a
motorcycle shopin Okinawa City which was apparently frequented
by Mr. Smdl. The following question by the prosecutor and
answer by the witness appear:

Have you heard about guns relating to the
defendant?

| heard from somebody that he brings guns from
the United States and sdlls them to organized crime on the
mainland of Japan. (See Exhibit 22, 6833, Q. 19)

f. The“trid” took place in short multiple sessions over a
13 month period (from March 15, 1993 (554a) through April 12,
1994 (705a)).

As noted, the U.S. didtrict court denied Smal’s motion to
dismiss without ahearing. However, in hismotion to dismiss (52a
56a, 203a-219a) and motion to reconsider order denying that
motion (220a-245a), Small aleged a series of fundamental defects
in the Japanese proceedings that did not appear and could not be
ascertained from areview of the “transcript” of the Japanese tridl.
These included:

a. Smdl wasinterrogated immediately following hisarrest
for 25 consecutive dayswith no right to counsel and no right to bail.
(544, 60a, 2233). Although he did not confess during this period,
his sllence and “insolent” attitude was extensvely referred to and
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commented on during the tria by the prosecution. (709a-710a,
587a, 6393).

b. At no timefollowing Mr. Smal’s arrest was bail ever
mentioned or considered. He remained incarcerated and held
amog totally incommunicado from hisarrest in December of 1992
until his conviction in April of 1994, 17 months later. (54a, 60a,
2224).

c. Although aJapaneselawyer appeared to see Mr. Smdll
a few days after his arett, the lawyer’s English was not good.
Small spoke virtudly no Japanese. Theonly discussonwith Smdl
was an effort to convince him to plead guilty. The lawyer was not
alowed to be present when Smal wasinterrogated for 25 straight
days. (544, 60a, 2233). Apparently thisisacommon practicein
the Japanese Crimina Justice System. (218a, 2383).

d. Mr. Smdl’sattorney sat about 20 feet away from him
during the entire trid, making any communication with counsdl
impossible. Mr. Smal was never asked or given an opportunity to
put on any witnesses. (60a, 223a).

e. Although atrandator was present, hedid not it by Mr.
Smdl, he did not trandate everything, and Smdl could not
meaningfully question him about things he did not understand. (60a,
2234). Infact, on one occasion, about 6 or 8 monthsinto thetrid,
Small heard the trandator say something about drugs. After Small
caused acommoation, because hisattorney did nothing, it turned out
that the Court was mistakenly proceeding with a drug trid — the
wrong case. (60a, 2114).

f.  Following his conviction, Smal was not permitted to,
nor was he told that he could apped his conviction. (544, 61a,
2243).

g Small intended to call an expert had there been a
hearing on hismotion to dismiss. He atached an affidavit from his
expert to his motion to reconsider the dismissal (234a-245a) in
which the expert — a professor of law a the University of lllinois
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with expertise in the Japanese legd system —indicated thet thereis
great potential for abuse in Japanee trids, particularly for
foreigners, that Slenceisaways used againgt the accused, and that
the lack of confrontation and use of “ statements of witnesses’ is
common. He further stated that Japanese criminal procedures,
including pre-trid detention, demand for confessions, inability to
prepare for trid and have meaningful interactions with one's
attorney, have attracted criticism from the United Nations Human
Rights Commission, Amnesty International, the United States
Depatment of State, and the Japanese Federation of Bar
Asociations. (238a). This expert’s testimony would have been
vitd in esablishing that Small’strid was not an anomaly, but was
esentidly atypicd trid in the Jgpanese system.
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section922(g)(1) of Title 18, U.S.C., makesit acrimefor
a person “who has been convicted in any court of a crime
punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year” to
possess afirearm. Although Congressdid not definetheterm“any
court,” it did define the phrase “ crime punishable by imprisonment
for aterm exceeding one year.” 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20). This
definition clearly suggests that Congress was referring to Federa
and State convictions, and not foreign convictions. The definition
of “crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one
year” excludes a variety of Federal and State crimes (anti-trust,
business regulatory offenses, and State misdemeanors punishable
by no more than two years imprisonment) without making any
reference to foreign convictions for smilar offenses.

If § 922(g)(1) isinterpreted to include foreign convictions,
the anomaous Stuation would exist that persons with foreign
convictions would face greater redtrictions and less protection than
persons convicted of similar crimes by a Federal or State court.
No reason exists to believe Congress intended such a peculiar
result.

Inaddition, 8 922(g)(9) makesit acrimefor aperson “who
has been convicted in any court of a misdemeanor crime of
domestic violence” to possess a firearm. Asin 8 922(g)(1), the
identical term “any court” isnot defined. However, § 921(33)(A)
explicatly defines “misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” as*“a
misdemeanor under Federal or State law” with certain other
edements. Congress may have deemed this explicit definition
necessary to prevent judiciad miscongruction extending the crimeto
foreign convictions, as had taken place with § 922(g)(2).
However, no reason exists to believe that Congressintended “ any
court” in both § 922(g)(1) and 8§ 922(g)(9) to mean anything other
than a Federal or State court.
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The Petitioner, Gary Sherwood Small, was convicted of a
caime in Jagpan. As the record reflects, he had none of the
fundamenta protections which are basic in the American system of
jugtice. Hewas given no right to bail and was questioned without
counsd following hisarrest for 25 sraight days. Critical evidence
was admitted in the form of paper affidavitswith no right to confront
the witnesses. He had no right to ajury trid. Hewascaledtothe
stand by the prosecution and asked question after question which
he refused to answer. Throughout the trid and in his closng
arguments, the prosecutor referred to Small’ ssilence as proof of his
guilt and of his“insolent atitude.” He had no right to gppedl.

Japan may be a modern industrial society, but its lega
system lacks the fundamenta rights to due process consdered in
the United States to be necessary for afree society. Thisvery case
exemplifies why Congress would not have dlowed foreign
convictions to be the basis for prohibiting an American from
possession of afirearm.

Inlessdeveloped systems of justice, such aslrag, aTaiban
court in Afghanistan, and military tribunasin Third World countries,
the guarantees of afair trid would be consderably less. Congress,
when deciding whether to make an otherwise lawful act a serious
fdony by virtue of aprior conviction, would have taken into account
the serious due process and fundamentd fairness problemsthat are
necessrily implicated if foreign convictions could sidfy the
predicate conviction requirement under § 922(g)(1).

The datutory development and legidative history confirm
that “any court” means a Federal or State court. The terms
“convicted in any court of a crime punishable by imprisonment for
aterm exceeding one year” originated in Title IV of the Omnibus
Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968, as did the exclusion
of “Federa or State” business regulatory offenses. Title VII used
the terms “ convicted by a court of the United States or of a State
or any political subdivison thereof of afeony.”
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The Gun Control Act (GCA) of 1968 replaced TitlelV and
kept the same language. The Senate bill imposed the disability on
persons convicted “in any court” of felonies, defining “felony” to
indude only offensesunder Federd and Statelaw. The Conference
Report, recommending the language that would pass, did not regard
the differences as substantive. Besidesexcluding Federd and State
busness regulatory offenses, the GCA dso excluded State
misdemeanors punishable by two years or less.

Fndly, the GCA amended Title VII, but retained its
reference to convictions by courts of the United States, States, and
politica subdivisions thereof.

Conggtent with the above, the ATF interpreted the law as
not including foreign convictions. Foreign law did not have the
same protections as found in American justice, offenses are not
comparable, and documentation would be difficult to obtain. Those
reasons would have motivated Congress to exclude foreign
convictions.

In enacting the Firearms Owners' Protection Act of 1986,
Congress intended to incorporate prior law, under which “any
court” referred to Federal and State courts. It consolidated Title
VIl into § 922(g), and in § 921(a)(20) expanded the exclusions
fromfirearm disabilities to include pardons, civil rights restorations,
and expungements. Once again, these procedures are pertinent
only to Federa and State convictions. Finaly, as Senator Hatch
remarked, it granted “authority to the jurisdiction (State) which
prosecuted the individud to determine digibility for firearm
possession after afelony conviction or plea of guilty to a felony.”
131 Cong. Rec. S8689 (June 24, 1985). Foreign jurisdictions
were not considered.

The Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act of 1993
further demongtrates Congress’ intent that the term “ court” as used
in the Gun Control Act means aFederd or State court. Provision
was madeto conduct background checksonly in Federal and State
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records. Proceduresfor correction of recordsrefer only to Federa
and State records, and actions to correct records may be brought
inappropriate Federal and State courts. Records of convictions by
foreign courts are irrdlevant.

Fndly, both Congressond intent and the rule of lenity
mandate that the Statute be narrowly construed to exclude foreign
convictions. First, Congress deemed congtitutiond rights to be at
stake, and would not have intended that these rights be subject to
forfeiture other than through the procedures of American law
guaranteeing due process of law. Second, given theambiguity, the
related principles of the rule of lenity and avoidance of vagueness
mandate a narrow construction.

ARGUMENT

. THE PLAIN TEXT OF THE STATUTE
MAKESCLEAR THAT A “CONVICTION IN ANY
COURT” MEANSA CONVICTION IN ANY
COURT IN THE UNITED STATES

Gary Sherwood Small was convicted of violating 18 U.S.C.
§922(g)(1). Section 922(g)(1) readsin relevant part as follows:

It shdl be unlawful for any person—

(1) Who has been convicted in any court of, a
crime punishable by imprisonment for aterm exceeding one
year; . ..
to possessin or affecting commerce, any firearm . . . .

If the term “any court” means any court in the United
States, Smdl’ s Jgpanese conviction would not qualify asapredicate
conviction, and he would be not guilty of violating § 922(g)(1).

Hve courts of appedls have addressed thisissue. Three,
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induding the Third Circuitin Mr. Small’ s case, have concluded that
“any court” means any court in the world. Two circuits have held
that “any court” means any American court.

Thefirg appelate decison to addressthisissuewasUnited
States v. Winson, 793 F.2d 754 (6™ Cir. 1986). Winson was
charged with violating 18 U.S.C. § 922(h)(1) (repealed), receipt of
a firearm after having been “convicted in any court of a crime
punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year.”
Winson had been convicted of counterfeiting in Argentinaand fraud
inSwitzerland. Thetrid court dismissed theindictment, holding that
the meaning of the term “any court” was ambiguous, that the
principle of lenity was controlling, and thusthat only convictions by
courts within the United States were applicable. See 793 F.2d at
756.

The Sixth Circuit reversed, opining that “an examination of
the legidaive hisory of Title 1V reveds no discusson of the actud
meaning of the phrase ‘in any court’.” Id. a 757. It held that the
term “any court” is not ambiguous and means any court anywhere
in the world. Despite having found no discussion by Congress as
to themeaning of “any court,” Winson concluded that it is*“evident”
that Congress did not intend to limit 8 922(g)(1)'s reach only to
“convictions by courts of the United States or of agtate.” 1d.

This is “evident,” Winson found, because of what it
perceived asa“partial tenson” between section 922 and 18 U.S.C.
App. §1202 (now repealed).* 1d. at 757, citing United States v.
Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114, 119-21 (1978). To the contrary,
Batchelder noted the“ overlap” and “partid redundancy” of thetwo
statutes “both as to the conduct they proscribe and the individuads
they reech.” 1d. a 118. The only differencesBatchelder found in

4 Section 1202(a), a predecessor statute to theinstant one, and its
impact on Congress' intentin 18U.S.C. § 922(g)(1), isdiscussedindetail in
Part 111 of thisbrief.
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the two provisons were a dight difference in the definition of
“convictedfelons” id. a 119 n.5, and that different “ pendties’ exist
under each statute. Id. at 119.

In sum, Winson relied on the thin thread of lack of any
discusson in Congress of the meaning of “in any court,” and a
wholly ingpposite precedent, Batchelder, which made no mention
of the issue at hand.

United States v. Atkins, 872 F.2d 94 (4" Cir. 1989),
followed Winson. It found thet the * scant legidative history of 18
U.S.C. 8922 ... offered noillumination asto Congress intended
meaning,” and that “*any’ is hardly an ambiguous term being dl-
indusveinnature” 1d. at 96. It offered no further discussion or
andyss, and contributes nothing to strengthen the argument that
“any court” means “any court in the world.”

The issuewas not revisted until United Statesv. Concha,
233 F.3d 1249 (10" Cir. 2000), which held that the term
“convicted in any court” was intended to mean only courts in the
United States. Concha focused on the definition in 8 921(a)(20),
which had been ignored by Winson and Atkins, and which
providesin part:

The term “crime punishable by imprisonment for a
term exceeding one year” does not include —

(A) any Federal or State offenses pertaining to
antitrust violations, unfair trade practices, restraints of trade,
or other smilar offenses reating to the regulation of
business practices, or

(B) any State offense classfied by the laws of the
State as a misdemeanor and punishable by a term of
imprisonment of two years or less. (Emphasis added.)

Concha explains why this language, when read in pari
materia with the term “in any court,” precludes the possibility that
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foreign convictions were intended to be included:

This definition [18 U.S.C. § 921(8)(20)] excludes certain
federa and state crimes from 8 922(g)(1), but makes no
comparable mention of foreign crimes. If 8§ 922(g)(1) were
meant to cover foreign crimes, we would be Ieft with the
anomalous Stuation that fewer domestic crimes would be
covered than would beforeign crimes. For example, while
someone who had been convicted of a U.S. antitrust
violation would be alowed to possess a firearm, someone
convicted of a British antitrust violation would not be
alowed to possessafirearm. Thereisnoreasonto believe
that Congress intended this peculiar result in 8 922(g)(1).

Thus, the definition of “crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year” provides
some evidence that Congress intended § 922(g)(1) to
cover only federd and state crimes.  Therefore, when the
Armed Career Crimind Act requires “three previous
convictions by any court referred to in section 922(g)(1),”
it would exclude foreign convictions.

Concha, 233 F.3d at 1254.

As Concha observes, it would make no sense that
Congress intended to give someone less protection when his
conviction was obtained in a foreign jurisdiction as opposed to a
court in the United States. Can it be that Congressintended that a
person convicted of an unfair trade practice in a foreign country —
for ingance, sdling a Bible in Afghanisan and convicted by a
Tdibancourt —is prohibited from possessing afirearmin the United
States, but a person convicted of an unfair trade practice in the
United States is not? As Concha held, “there is no reason to
believe that Congressintended this peculiar result in 8 922(g)(1).”
Id. at 1254.
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Concha did what Winson and Atkinsfailed to do—to read
“any court” in the context of the statute as a whole and not in
isolation. This principle was wdl articulated by this Court in FDA
v. Brown and Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120, 133
(2000), asfollows:

In determining whether Congress has specificaly
addressed the question & issue, a reviewing court should
not confine itsdf to examining a particular satutory
provisoninisolation. ... A court must therefore interpret
the datute “as a symmetrica and coherent regulatory
scheme” . . . and “fit, if possble, al parts into an
harmoniouswhole. . . .” (Citations omitted).

Looking beyond the bare words “any court” to the
operative phrase, “crime punishable by imprisonment for a term
exceeding one year,” and to the various references to Federa and
State crimes excluded from that termin 8 921(a)(20), it isclear that
only convictions by Federd and State courts areincluded. Thet is
the only interpretation which renders the statute as “a symmetrical
and coherent regulatory scheme.” Stretching the statute to include
foreign convictions results in absurd conseguences.

If “any court” means any court in the world, the following
st of peculiar and obvioudy unintended results would follow:

(@ Anindividud convicted of an anti-trust violation in
France or Iran could not possess a firearm, but an individua
convicted of asmilar offensein the United States could possess a
firerm. This would give foreign courts grester weight then our
own. See § 921(a)(20)(A).

(b)  An individud convicted of an offense in Canada
classfied as a misdemeanor which carries a maximum sentence of
two years imprisonment could not possess a firearm, but an
individua convicted of an offense in a State court in the United
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States which caries a maximum sentence of two years
imprisonment could possess afirearm. See § 921(a)(20)(B).

What possible reason could Congress have had, asConcha
observes, to cregte a Satutory scheme in which Americans would
be exposad to being convicted of aserious crimeunder § 922(g)(1)
because of a prior foreign conviction, when being convicted of the
same prior offense in this country would create no crimind ligbility
adl.

If § 922(g)(1) applies to foreign convictions, a person
engaging in a multi-million dollar anti-trust scheme in this country,
sentenced to prison after a fair trid and appeal and thereafter
released, would be permitted to possess a firearm in the United
States. An American, however, convicted of an illegd business
practice in Afghanistan during the Taliban regime or in Irag during
the Hussain regime, would be subject to aten year prison sentence
if he or she thereafter possessed afirearm in this country.

The Federd Sentencing Guidelines exclude foregn
convictions when computing one's crimina history for sentencing
purposes. See§4A1.2(H). AsConcha points out, it is difficult to
accept the propostion that a foreign conviction which cannot be
counted for the mere purposes of computing acrimind history, can
be used to prove an dement of the offense — clearly a more
sgnificant aspect of the criminal proceedings on the due process
and fundamental fairness scale. 233 F.3d at 1254.

Despite Concha’'s compdling logic, the Third Circuit in
Petitioner Smdl’ scasehdd that “ any court” includesforeign courts.
But in so doing, the Third Circuit provided little to the debate, and
smply concluded in afootnote:

The parties spent a greet ded of ther briefs arguing about
the definition of 8§ 922's “any court.” We view this,
however, as atempest in ateapot, and for the reasons set
forthin United States v. Atkins, . . . foreign convictions,
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generdly, can count as predicate offensesfor the purposes
of §922. Pet. App. 3an.2.

Just after the Third Circuit’s “tempest in ategpot” holding,
United Sates v. Gayle, 342 F.3d 89 (2d Cir. 2003), joined the
Tenth Circuit in concluding that the term “convicted in any court”
refers exclusvdy to domestic convictions. Gayle agreed that by
“looking to the statutory scheme asawhole,” and by “ appreciating
how sections relate to one another,” the more logicad conclusonis
that “a conviction in any court” means a conviction in any court in
the United States. 1d. at 93. Gayle explained (id. at 92-93):

Our textud andysis of what congtitutes a predicate
offense under 8 922(g)(1), however, does not end with the
words “in any court.” “The text’s plan meaning can best
be understood by looking to the statutory scheme as a
whole and placing the particular provision within the context
of that statute.” Saksv. Franklin Covey Co., 316 F.3d
337, 345 (2d Cir. 2003); see Auburn Hous. Auth. v.
Martinez, 277 F.3d 138, 144 (2d Cir. 1992) (“The
meaning of a particular section in a statute can be
understood in context with and by reference to the whole
satutory scheme, by appreciating how sections relate to
one another.”).

Gayle, 342 F.3d at 92-93.

Gayle referred to the excluded Federal and State offenses
set forth in § 921(8)(20), agreeing with Concha concerning the
absurd results which stem from considering foreign convictions.
Gayle adds:

[W]e do not understand the logic whereby a person
convicted of an antitrust violation in aforeign country would
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not be allowed to possessafirearm, yet aperson convicted
of the same antitrust violation in the United Stateswould be
dlowed to possess a firearm. . . . At the very least, 8
921(a)(20) injects doubt as to whether Congressintended
foreign convictions to serve as predicate offenses. See
Marvel Characters Inc. v. Smon, 310 F.3d 280, 290
(2d Cir. 2002) (explaining our reluctance to read a statute
inaway that could “lead to anomalous or unreasonable
results’ (quotation marks omitted)).

Gayle, 342 F.3d at 93.

Evenwithout regard to the above, Gayl e found “any court”
to be ambiguous, on the common-sense basisthat statutes normaly
refer to the inditutions within the jurisdiction of the enacting
authority. It explained:

For ingtance, it is not unreasonable to understand statutory
references to officers, officids, and acts of government as
meaning those of the particular government. Just asadtate
datute authorizing “a police officer” to meke an arrest
probably means a police officer of that state and does not
indude police officars from foreign nations, SO it is
reasonable to read 8 922(g)(1)’s reference to convictions
as referring to convictions by courts in the United States.

Id. at 93.

After an examination of the legidative history and other
tools of congtruction to resolve the textud ambiguity, Gayle
concludesthat “ Congressdid not intend foreign convictionsto serve
as predicate offenses under the felon-in-possesson statute.” 1d. at
93.

While apparently not mentioned by any of the above
decisions, the fina two sentences of § 921(a)(20) provide:
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What condtitutes a conviction of such a crime shal be
determined in accordance with thelaw of thejurisdictionin
which the proceedings were held. Any conviction which
has been expunged, or set aside or for which a person has
been pardoned or has had civil rights restored shdl not be
considered aconviction for purposes of thischapter, unless
such pardon, expungement, or restoration of civil rights
expressy providesthat the person may not ship, transport,
POSSESS, Or receive firearms.

Determining the nature of a conviction *in accordance with
the law of the jurisdiction in which the proceedings were held”
refersto the jurisdictions of the United States and the fifty States,
not to foreign countries. This “choice-of-law” clause has been
interpreted exclusvely asadetermination of which Federd or State
jurisdiction controls®  The “exemption clause’ regarding
expungements, pardons, and restorations of civil rights raises the
issue of whether Federal or State law controls, and if the latter,
which State.  That is clear in this Court’s decisons on these
provisons as well as the enormous quantity of didtrict and gppeals
court decisons that have been rendered since enactment of these
provisionsin 1986.°

® Beechamv. United States, 511 U.S. 368, 373 (1994), notes:

[ITn enacting the choice-of -law clause, legislators may have been
simply responding to our decision in Dickerson v. New Banner
Institute, Inc., 460 U.S. 103, 74 L. Ed. 2d 845, 103 S. Ct. 986 (1983),
which held that federal law rather than state law controls the
definition of what constitutes aconviction. . ..

6 Seegenerally Beecham, 511 U.S. 368;Caronv. United Sates, 524
U.S. 308 (1998). For a discussion of various precedents exhibiting the
myriad issues arising under State law, see Stephen P. Halbrook, Firearms
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It is unimaginable that Congress intended the courts to
interpret the laws of foreign countries, and to consider for foreign
countries and even individua states thereof — as the courts do for
each of our fifty States — whether civil rights may be restored by
operation of law or require specific proceedings for each felon.
Whether civil rights are restored involves whether the felon has
regained the rights to vote, to run for office, and to serve on ajury.
E.g., United Sates v. Cassidy, 899 F.2d 543 (6" Cir. 1990).
These rights do not even exigt in many foreign countries.

Ignoring these quedtions, the government eschews the
traditiona tools of statutory construction and supportsthe smplistic
view of Atkins that “‘any’ is hardly an ambiguous term being al
indudve in nature” 872 F.2d a 96. This Court rgected that
narrow gpproach just recently in Nixon v. Missouri Municipal
League, 124 S. Ct. 1555, 1561 (2004). Looking at the meaning of
the term “any” in the context of the statute as a whole, this Court
asked whether the term “any entity” in the Tdlecommunications Act
meant private entities only, or dso public entities. 1d. “*[A]ny’ can
and does mean different things depending upon the setting.”” Nixon
found it helpful to “ask how Congress could have envisoned” the
provison “actudly working” if applied expansvely. 124 S. Ct. a
1561. Finding “drangeand indeterminateresults,” it concluded “that
Congress used ‘any entity’ with a limited reference to any private

entity ...." Id.
Smilarly, reading “any court” expansvely to includeforeign

Law Deskbook: Federal and State Criminal Practice (Thomson/West,
2003), § 2:11.

’Id., comparing United States v. Gonzales, 520 U.S. 1, 5 (1997)
(expansive meaning of “any other term of imprisonment” toinclude state as
well as federal sentences), with Raygor v. Regents of Univ. of Minnesota,
534 U.S. 533, 542-546 (2002) (“any claim asserted” narrowly interpreted to
exclude certain claims dismissed on Eleventh Amendment grounds).
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courtswould lead to strange and indeterminate results. Fundamental
concepts of notice and due process cannot depend, as the appeals
court here held, on esoteric treatises on international law. The
language of the datute, asssted by the traditional tools of
construction, must inform the citizen of what is forbidden. The
peculiar and illogicd results that the Courtsin Concha and Gayle
note would occur, require anarrower reading of theterm “any” than
that proposed here by the government. Theterm* any court” means
Federa and State courts, and does not extend to foreign courts.

II.RELATED STATUTORY PROVISIONS MAKE
PLAIN THAT “ANY COURT” REFERSTO
FEDERAL AND STATE COURTSONLY

In 1996, Congress amended 8§ 922(g) with what is known
as the “Lautenberg Amendment,” which made it unlawful for any
person “who has been convicted in any court of a misdemeanor
cime of domestic violence” to possess a firearm. 8§ 922(g)(9),
enacted by P.L. 104-208, Title VI, § 658(b), 110 Stat. 3009
(1996).

Paragraphs (1) and (9) of § 922(g) are the same except that
the former uses the phrase “of a crime punishable by imprisonment
for aterm exceeding one year,” while the later usesthe phrase“of a
misdemeanor crimeof domesticviolence” Both provisonssharethe
same language describing what is prohibited — “to ship or transport
in interstate or foreign commerce or possess in or affecting
commerce, any firearm or ammunition.. . . .”

Just as § 921(a)(20) defines “crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year,” § 921(a)(33)(A)
defines*misdemeanor crime of domestic violence.” Kegpinginmind
that 8 922(g)(1) and (9) both refer to “convicted in any court,” part
of the definition found in 8§ 921(a)(33)(A) takes on exceptiond
sgnificance:
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Except as provided in subparagraph (C), the term
“misdemeanor crime of domedtic violence” means an offense
that —

(1) isamisdemeanor under Federd or State law . .

It is clear fromthis definition thet the term “ convicted in any
court” in 8 922(g)(9) (the misdemeanor of domestic violence
offense) meansany court in the United States only, asthe crime must
be “amisdemeanor under Federd or Statelaw.” 8 921(a)(33)(A)(1).
By virtue of the fact that only a federa or state court can convict
someone of afederd or date crime, “any court” necessarily means
any American court.

It s;emsimpossible that Congress could have intended the
definition of “convicted in any court” found in 8 922(g)(1) to mean
any court intheworld, but haveintended the sameterm—*convicted
in any court” found in 8 922(g)(9) to mean any court in the United
States.

But if Congress did intend the term “any court” in 8
922(g)(1) to mean something different than the same term meansin
8§ 922(g)(9), which is highly unlikely, we are again faced with the
anomaous Stuation that an individua convicted of a misdemeanor
crime of domestic violencein aforeign country can possessafirearm
in the United States, but an individua convicted of an unfair trade
practice in that same country cannot possess a firearmin the United
States. The law cannot be read in amanner attributing to Congress
the intent to have created such an absurd result.

Further, the fact that “ convicted in any court” in 8 922(g)(9)
isdearly limited to American courts, is an indication that Congress
wished that meaning to be explicitly stated to preclude any
interpretation, as had aready occurred in Winson and Atkins, that
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“any court” includes foreign jurisdictions®

As discussed in Part | of this brief, the definition of “crime
punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year” in 8
921(a)(20) strongly suggests, in order to avoid absurd results, that
Congress intended to limit the term *any court” to American courts.
The définition of “misdemeanor crime of domegtic violence” in 8§
921(a)(33)(A) diminates any doubt, &t least in regard to § 922(g)(9)
offenses, that “any court” absolutely meansany American court. No
logical argument can be made that in two s0 closdy related
provisions, any possible reason existsfor Congressto haveintended
the term “any court” to mean something so totaly different.

The plain and obvious meaning of this closdly related section
of the same section essentidly lays to rest any cdlam that the term
“any court” in 8 922(g)(1) means anything other than any American
court, which is clearly what that term meansin § 922(g)(9).°

[1l. POLICY REASONS SUGGEST WHY CONGRESS
DID NOT INTEND FOREIGN CONVICTIONSTO
COUNT ASPREDICATE CONVICTIONS

8 See Holmes v. SecuritiesInvestor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258,
267 (1992) (*“We may fairly credit the 91st Congress, which enacted RICO,
with knowing the interpretation federal courts had given the words earlier
Congresses had used”).

® |t is noteworthy that § 922(g) prohibits several other categories
of persons from receipt of firearms, including “any person —. . . (5) who,
being an alien — (A) isillegally or unlawfully in the United States . . . .”
Illegal aliens likely account for the greater part of persons with foreign
convictionswho would be in the United States. Few legal residents have
foreign convictions. “Prosecutions under Section 922(g)(1) that rely upon
foreign convictionsarerelatively infrequent.” Brief of the United States 11
(Feb. 2004). These circumstances explain why Congress would not have
considered foreign convictions under 8 922(g)(1), but filled the gap by and
large by including illegal aliensin § 922(g)(5).
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The plain meaning of § 922(g)(1), when read in rdation to
the definition section found in 8 921(8)(20), clearly suggeststhat the
prior convictions in “any court” referred to in the statute are limited
to domestic convictions. Ther sister provisonsin 88 921(a)(33)(A)
and 922(g)(9) explicitly restrict “any court” to Federa and State
courts. Thefollowing discussesunderlying policy concernsthat inal
likelihood were consdered by Congress in not wishing to include
foreign convictions within the reach of § 922(g)(1).

The Statement of Facts, supra, discusses many of the
deficiencies in terms of due process and fundamentd fairness that
Smdl faced during the time following his arrest and through trid in
Japan. Clearly, any one of the parade of horribles which he
experienced, had they occurred here, would have led to the reversal
of his conviction. That dl of these events occurred in one
proceeding would be unimaginable in the United States. And these
deficiencies occurred not in Afghanigtan, Irag or Somalia, but in
Japan, a county that essentialy adopted our condtitution, albeit in
form and not substance. While Congress intended to take guns out
of thehands of dangerouscriminds, itishighly unlikely thet Congress
did not envison the problem of being totdly indiscriminate about
which country’s labe or definition of dangerous crimina we would
be willing to accept.

One need look no further than to this Court’ s jurisprudence
to understand why Congressdid not intend for foreign convictionsto
deprive American citizens of what we consider to be basic rights.
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The rights to counsd,’® to confront on€'s accusers,** to remain
slent,*? to trid by jury,™® and to proof beyond a reasonable doubt
are landmarks of the American legal sysem. This Court’s rulings
often result in the reversd of Federd and State convictions which
were obtained inviolation of theserights. Itisdifficult toimaginethat
Congress intended to recognize convictions where, as here, no
pretense exists of guaranteeing these fundamentd rights.

InBean v. U.S,, 89 F.Supp. 2d 828, 837-38 (E.D. Texas,
2000), aff'd, 253 F.3d 234 (5" Cir. 2001), rev’d on other
grounds, 537 U.S. 71 (2002), the district court held that foreign

10 “No system worth preserving should have to fear that if an
accused is permitted to consult with alawyer, hewill become aware of, and
exercise, these [constitutional] rights [to remain silent].” Escobedo v.
Illinois, 378 U.S. 478, 490 (1964).

1 “[T]he rule that an accused is entitled to confrontation of the
witnesses against him and the right to cross-examine them,” this Court
decided, is an “age-old rule which in the past has been regarded as a
fundamental principle of our jurisprudence. ...” Bruton v. United States,
391 U.S. 123, 134 (1968) (citation omitted).

1241 T1he American system of criminal prosecution isaccusatorial,
not inquisitorial, and that the Fifth Amendment privilege is its essential
mainstay.” Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 8 (1964).

18 “The guarantees of jury trial in the Federal and State
Constitutions reflect a profound judgment about the way in which law
should be enforced and justice administered. A righttojury trial isgranted
to criminal defendantsin orderto prevent oppression by the Government.”
Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 155 (1968).

14 “IT]he Due Process Clause protects the accused against
conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact
necessary to constitute the crimewithwhichheischarged.” In re Winship,
397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970).
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convictions were not intended to be included within § 922(g)(1).
The court noted the dangers of using foreign convictions by referring
to the Mexican conviction being relied on against Bean and the many
due process problems present in that case. 89 F.Supp. 2d at 837-
38. Bean concluded:

This caseis a perfect illudtration as to why the phrase “any
court” in 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) cannot be interpreted to
mean* any court intheworld regardless of the severity of the
crime or the due process which the defendant was entitled
during the defense of his case”

Id. at 838.

Bean was denied counsd, an interpreter, and was charged
with an offense — unknowing carrying of abox of ammunition —that
“ishardly acrime‘ serious enough to take away anindividud’ sright
to possessafirearm.” 1d. Rather than Congressintending our tria
courts to engage in the paindaking case by case andyss of the
justice systemin each country in the world when a conviction occurs
there, or the absurd notion that any foreign conviction would count,
no matter how devoid of any notion of fundamenta fairness, the
more likely result is that Congress intended to exclude foreign
convictions al together.

Bean, id. a 838 n.8, cited Martha Kimes, The Effect of
Foreign Criminal ConvictionsUnder American Repeat Offender
Satutes: A Case Against the Use of Foreign Crimes in
Determining Habitual Criminal Statutes, 35 Columbia Journa of
Transnationa Law, 503 (1977). That article concluded:

[P]rocedural due process concerns are automaticaly raised
with the use of foreign crimina convictions. The American
concept of due processisonethat hasdowly developed and
evolved over many years, ultimately providing alarge body
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of procedural safeguardsthat work together to guarantee an
acceptable leve of farnessin crimind trids. . . . Although
other countries have due process clauses in thar
constitutionsand many countries provide crimind defendants
with most of the same safeguards that the United States
provides, no other system truly matches the rules that have
been deemed necessary in the United Statesto protect both
individud fairness and rdiability of convictions. . . .

Id. at 520.

Smilar condderations have led some State courts to reject
foreign convictions. One such case, People v. Braithwaite, 240
N.W. 2d 293, 294 (Mich. Ct. App. 1976), explained asfollows:

In many ways, the conditutional guarantees which our
system of justice protects are different in both kind and
degree than those recognized even in modern democratic
gydems such as Canadas. A conviction in a foreign
jurisdiction may often have been impossble were the
accused arrested, tried, and sentenced under the same
standards as in the United States.’®

Congress would not have intended that foreign convictions,
obtained without the safeguards